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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 On June 3, 2018, the Teacher Retirement System of Fordham (“TRSF”) 

purchased Red River Exploration Company (“Red River”) shares on the New 

York Stock Exchange. (R at 8). On June 7, 2018, the Fordham Municipal 

Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) also purchased Red River shares on the New York 

Stock Exchange. (R at 8). Subsequently, on June 10, 2018, following an 

environmental disaster that made international news, Red River’s common 

stock plummeted at market close. (R at 8). 

 On August 10, 2018, the TRSF and the FMRF (“Respondents”) brought a 

putative class action against Red River and its CEO, James Wilson 

(“Petitioners”), in the District of Fordham. (R at 8). Two separate actions were 

brought on behalf of all individuals who purchased Red River common stock 

between March 2, 2018, and August 2, 2018 (the “Class Period”). (R at 8-9). 

The securities fraud claim against Red River alleged a violation of 15 U.S.C. § 

78j(b), Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, Rule 10b-

5 (collectively, “Section 10(b)”). (R at 9). The complaint stated that Red River 

made materially misleading statements about the company’s commitment to 

environmental safety and protection procedures. (R at 9.) The control person 

liability claim against Wilson alleged a violation of 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a), Section 

20(a) of the Exchange Act. (R at 9). The complaint stated that Wilson had 

sufficient control over Red River’s misleading statements to render him liable 

as a control person. (R at 9.) 
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 In the district court, Respondents sought a total of $210 million in 

compensatory and punitive damages for the Class’ purchase of Red River stock 

in reliance of the allegedly false and misleading statements. (R at 9). However, 

on October 9, 2018, the district court granted Petitioners’ 12(b)(6) motions to 

dismiss both claims. (R at 9). The district court found that Respondents failed 

to identify materially misleading statements and allege scienter in its Section 

10(b) complaint, as required by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 

1995 (“PSLRA”). (R at 10). As a result of the dismissal of Respondents’ Section 

10(b) claim, there was no primary violation to support the Respondents’ 

Section 20(a) claim, resulting in its forced dismissal. (R at 10). 

 Respondents filed a timely appeal to the United States Court of Appeals 

for the Fourteenth Circuit. (R at 10). Respondents argued that the district court 

incorrectly found that the challenged statements were not materially 

misleading and that the complaint inadequately pled scienter. (R at 10). 

Additional to their argument that they successfully pled a primary violation 

against Red River, Respondents’ argued that they sufficiently pled a claim 

against Wilson under Section 20(a). (R at 11).  

 Despite Petitioners’ argument that the district court’s ruling was correct 

and should be affirmed, the Fourteenth Circuit reversed the district court and 

ruled in favor of the Respondents. (R at 12). Regarding the Section 10(b) claim, 

the Fourteen Circuit found that the misleading statements in question were 

neither inactionable corporate mismanagement or puffery. (R at 13). Further, 

the Fourteenth Circuit held that the Respondents adequately pled scienter, 
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finding that the statements at issue were made with severe recklessness. (R at 

22). As a result, Respondents’ claim pled a primary violation. (R at 23). 

 Regarding Respondents’ Section 20(a) claim, the Fourteenth Circuit 

found that, as CEO of Red River, Wilson had sufficient control over the 

company during the Class Period, in which the Section 10(b) violation was 

properly alleged. (R at 23). Further, the Fourteenth Circuit mandated that 

Section 20(a) claims do not require scienter, or culpable participation by a 

control person, because liability attaches upon demonstration of control. (R at 

25). As a result, the district court orders granting the Petitioners’ 12(b)(6) 

motions were reversed. (R at 26).  

 The United States Supreme Court granted a petition for a writ of 

certiorari on February 1, 2019. (R at 37). 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 Red River Exploration Company is an oil company that has operated in 

West Texas since 1962. (R at 2). Despite a history of environmental problems, 

geological missed calls, and destructive oil field fires, Red River’s founder, and 

now CEO, James Wilson, capitalized on exploring fields holding depleted 

reserves or having unpromising geological characteristics. (R at 2). Wilson’s 

risky strategy—exploring formations that larger oil companies would not 

venture into—paid off, establishing Red River as one of the largest independent 

oil exploration companies in the United States. (R at 2).  

 By 1985, Houston banks no longer supported Red River’s risky 

exploration strategies and Wilson struggled to obtain investment capital as a 
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result. (R at 2). Wilson was forced to take Red River public, registering under 

the Exchange Act and listing its common stock on the New York Stock 

Exchange (“Stock Exchange”). (R at 2-3). Over a six year period, Wilson sold 

eight-five percent of his ownership interest in Red River, but reserved the role 

of chairman and chief executive officer of the publicly traded company. (R at 3).  

 In light of poor public perception related to Red River’s history of 

environmental issues, Wilson hired Pamela Thompson to serve as chief 

operating and environmental officer and Sandra Grimes as senior vice 

president and general counsel. (R at 3). Wilson valued Thompson and Grimes’ 

experience in large oil field service companies and their education in regulatory 

compliance and public company disclosure statements. (R at 3). Their 

experience and obsession over these areas would assist with Wilson’s 

frustrations regarding regulatory costs and implications from environmental 

activists that Red River was less than upstanding. (R at 3).  

 In the late 1990s, despite a series of underwritten offerings of Red River 

stock, Wilson began to worry about his company’s future because of little to no 

availability of exploration prospects. (R at 3). Wilson was introduced to, and 

would later employ, a new form of oil extraction that would allow him to explore 

previously inaccessible pools of oil and gas. (R at 3). The novel, yet highly 

controversial, process of extraction was hydraulic fracturing, known today as 

fracking. (R at 3). Fracking involves the use of millions of gallons of highly 

pressurized chemicals, water, and sand to pulverize shale rock and unearth oil 

and gas reserves. (R at 4). This process creates millions of gallons of waste 
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water, which is later stored in susceptible “closed container” tanks and then 

dumped in treatment plants. (R at 4). In some circumstances, the once 

inaccessible pools of oil and gas can only be accessed by means of blasting 

when the pressurized chemicals cannot break the shale rock. (R at 4).  

 Prior to Red River’s adoption of fracking, Wilson’s environmental team 

expressed concerns about the controversial process and the risks of drilling 

through West Texas aquifers. (R at 4). Drawn by the potential profits associated 

with fracking, Wilson disregarded the environmental team’s warning and 

explored the West Texas Darnett Shale. (R at 4). Wilson’s bet paid off, and by 

2018, Red River had a market capitalization of over one hundred and ten 

billion dollars due to oil production. (R at 4). 

 Although fracking was highly profitable for Wilson, the original 

environmental concerns associated with fracking, including air pollution and 

water and soil contamination, still remained publicly prominent. (R at 4). As a 

result, Wilson, who maintained his distaste for regulatory compliance and 

disclosure requirements, often butted heads with Thompson and Grimes over 

public disclosure documents. (R at 4). Nevertheless, Red River’s annual and 

quarterly disclosure documents continually emphasized that environmental 

risks and events never materially impacted Red River’s operations. (R at 4). 

However, in 2017, Wilson’s engineering team voiced concerns that Red 

River’s toxic wastewater storage came close to reaching maximum capacity on 

several occasions and suggested adding additional storage capacity. (R at 5). 

However, Wilson brushed off concerns and suggestions from his engineering 
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team. (R at 5). Around the same time, Red River was notified of low-level 

seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale, where Red River was actively fracking. 

(R at 5). Absent an investigation, Red River’s environmental team dismissed the 

possibility that the low-level activity was attributable to their fracking, finding 

it more likely to be attributable to the deep discharge of massive amounts of 

wastewater which they believed was not exclusive to fracking. (R at 5). 

Following an e-mail exchange with Thompson and Grimes in December 2017, 

the company failed to disclose the seismic activity to the public. (R at 5).  

A month later, in January 2018, Wilson e-mailed Thompson and Grimes, 

expressing his view that Red River’s environmental disclosures painted an 

unbalanced picture that Red River was not a good corporate citizen. (R at 5). 

These disclosures included environmental mishaps involving Red River, such 

as seepage of toxic chemicals and air pollution. (R at 5). Wilson additionally 

expressed frustrations with having to clear his positive environmental 

statements with both Thompson and Grimes, wanting more autonomy in 

released disclosures. (R at 5).  

Wilson’s belief that Red River should express a more positive outlook on 

environmental compliance in disclosure statements was reinforced on February 

2, 2018, when he attended a talk at Midland Petroleum Club. (R at 6). There, a 

gas exploration company senior vice president led Wilson to believe that there 

was little risk of Section 10(b) exposure in generalized statements about a 

company’s commitment to regulatory compliance and environmental 

protection. (R at 6). The VP took a liberal stance on statements regarding 
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compliance and environmental preparedness, believing there was no harm in 

these disclosures so long as they did not include factual assertions or omit 

relevant background information. (R at 6). As a result, Wilson instructed 

Thompson and Grimes to convey a more positive tone in Red River’s public 

statements and disclosure documents. (R at 6).  

 Following Wilson’s instruction, Red River’s March 1, 2018, Annual 

Report and Form 10-K were revised to emphasize a positive tone. (R at 6). In 

pertinent part, the Report and Form 10-K made the following statements: 

i. “Our commitment to protecting the environment is 
unwavering and constant.” 
 

ii. “There is no higher priority than ensuring that our drilling 
activity continues to be conducted in a manner consistent 
with protecting the environment and preventing or 
remediating any damage resulting from an environmental 
occurrence,” 

 
iii. “We continue to conduct frequent environmental practices 

reviews to assure our commitment to environmental best 
practices and devote our most talented personnel and a 
substantial budget to ensure protection of the environment.”  

 
iv. “Our commitment to the environment is demonstrated 

through our investment in and adoption of the latest 
technology in order to minimize water or soil contamination. 
This commitment differentiates us from our competitors.”  

 
v. “Fracking involves no serious environmental issues not 

associated with conventional drilling.”  

(R at 36). 

In May 2018, Red River received another notification of increased low-

level seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale. (R at 7). Different from the first 

occurrence, Thompson was concerned because she had heard scattered reports 
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of seismic activity in South Dakota being attributable to fracking. (R at 7). After 

Thompson discussed the reports with Grimes and Wilson, it was decided that 

an investigation regarding the seismic activity would take place together with 

Red River’s upcoming environmental practices review in July. (R at 7). 

However, the report was not disclosed because of fear that it would have an 

unwarranted, negative-effect on the market. (R at 7). 

After the decision to not disclose the report connecting seismic activity to 

fracking, Wilson began to bolster the reputation of Red River in meetings with 

major institutional investors, securities analysts, and industry groups. 

Specifically, on May 15, 2018, at a conference of oil and gas securities analysts, 

Wilson, without prior clearance, openly made the following statements: 

i. “I think we have the tightest environmental practices in the 
West Texas oil patch.”  
 

ii. “Candidly, I honestly believe a major environmental event has 
about a zero percent chance of occurring on our property. We 
just pay too much attention for that to happen.”  

 
(R at 36). 
  

On May 28, 2018, Red River received its third notification of frequent 

low-level seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale. (R at 7). With a decision 

already in place to investigate the seismic activity in conjunction with the 

upcoming environmental review, Thompson and Grimes postponed a decision 

on disclosing the report until after the review. (R at 7).   
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 On June 1, 2018, Red River filed a Form 10-Q. (R at 7).  The 10-Q 

announced Red River’s quarterly financial and operating results. (R at 7). 

Specifically, the 10-Q stated the following: 

i. “Our operations could be subject to disruption by natural 
disasters beyond our control, including . . . severe storms, 
fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks.”  

(R at 36).  

 On June 3, 2018, the Teacher Retirement System of Fordham purchased 

$27 million worth of Red River shares on the Stock Exchange. (R at 8). A few 

days later, on June 7, 2018, the Fordham Municipal Retirement Fund 

purchased $31 million worth of Red River shares on the Stock Exchange. (R at 

8). By June 10, 2018, Red River’s price per stock was $164. (R at 8). That same 

day, however, and following three prior notifications of seismic activity in the 

area, a series of mid-level seismic shocks rocked the Eagle Ford Shale. (R at 8). 

This time, the seismic activity destroyed the integrity of Red River’s toxic 

wastewater storage site, causing millions of gallons of wastewater to infiltrate 

West Texas groundwater and seep into the regional aquifers. (R at 8). The event 

made international news and, by market close on June 10, 2018, Red River’s 

common stock price plummeted to $94.50 a share, resulting in a $69.50 loss 

per share for TRSF and FMRF, among others. (R at 8). 

Federal and state investigations following the events at Eagle ford Shale 

revealed that Red River had been using excessive amounts of explosives to 

condition the shale rock for the injection process. (R at 8). While inconclusive 

as to whether Red River’s blasting contributed to the seismic activity, the 
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reports, released on August 1, 2018, all concurred that Red River’s fracking 

process was the proximate cause of the wastewater escaping the storage site 

and that the wastewater storage tanks were filled beyond recommended 

capacity. (R at 8). A geologist retained by Thompson concurred Red River’s fault 

in the investigation reports. (R at 8).   

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Respondents adequately pled that Red River materially misled 

purchasers of Red River stock. Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934 prohibits using manipulative or deceptive devices with the purchase or 

sale of a security. This Court determined in Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. 

Siracusano that an actionable misrepresentation must be “misleading as to 

material fact.” Red River violated Section 10(b) in making misleading 

statements and omissions of material facts. Red River’s failure to release 

material information regarding both seismic activity and engineering concerns 

in the Eagle Ford Shale, fall within the definition of material fact necessary to 

inform investors to make a reasonable investment decision. 

While two valid defenses against a 10(b) claim are corporate 

mismanagement and inactionable puffery, neither are applicable in the present 

case. On multiple occasions, Red River, made deliberate statements on the 

company’s environmental commitment and practices, even while having 

information in contradiction to those very statements. Additionally, many of 

Red River’s statements were made without regard to contradictory facts.  
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The PSLRA requires a plaintiff start with particularity facts that give rise 

to a strong inference the defendant acted with the required state of mind. 

Petitioners acted with the necessary scienter for a 10(b) claim due to their 

habitual pattern of disregard for established protocols of disclosure and 

environmental practices. In Tellabs v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd, this Court 

held that a “strong inference” is an inference that is just as likely as any 

plausible, nonculpable explanations for the defendant’s conduct. This Court 

should follow precedent and defer to the circuit court’s application of 

recklessness as an adequate means to allege scienter. Red River’s omission of 

relevant environmental concerns, and dismissal of warnings without 

reasonable evidence to disprove those warnings was deliberately reckless 

because they departed from the standard ordinary of care.  

An allegation of culpable participation is not required to plead 

control-person liability. Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

states that one who “controls” a person liable under another provision of the 

Act is liable to the same extent as the controlled person. Liability as a “control 

person” can be avoided if the “control person” establishes that he or she acted 

in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts 

constituting the violation. Here, Respondents adequately pled a Section 20(a) 

claim when they alleged that James Wilson, the CEO of Red River, made and 

directed misleading misrepresentations to stock purchasers. 

The Fifth, Ninth, Tenth, and Eleventh circuits have interpreted the term 

“control” under Section 20(a) to only require a plaintiff to establish that a 
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defendant has the ability to exert influence over the decision-making process of 

another person. Following the Second Circuit’s holding in S.E.C. v. First Jersey 

Securities, Inc., however, the Second, Third, and Eighth circuits require 

plaintiffs to make an additional showing of culpable participation by the 

defendant. However, even courts within those circuits have neglected to adopt 

this limiting requirement at the pleading stage. 

This Court should guide the circuits in applying a uniform interpretation 

of Section 20(a) that aligns with Congress’ intent when enacting the Securities 

Exchange Act. Evident from congressional hearing transcripts, Section 20(a) 

was established to expand liability for securities law violations, not restrict it. 

As here, where the Respondents pled that Petitioner controlled, managed, and 

directed the actions of Red River and those that were responsible for disclosing 

material misrepresentations to stock purchasers, this Court should find that 

no further allegations of intent or primary culpability are necessary to 

adequately plead a Section 20(a) claim.  

ARGUMENT 

I. THIS COURT SHOULD FIND THAT RED RIVER’S MATERIAL 
MISSTATEMENTS REGARDING THE COMPANY’S ENVIRONMENTAL 
COMMITMENTS, PRACTICES, AND RISKS ARE ACTIONABLE, AND 
THAT RESPONDENTS ADEQUATELY PLED SCIENTER. 
 
Petitioner, Red River, violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934 when it made misleading statements and omissions of material 

facts regarding the company’s environmental commitments, practices, and 

risks. In Basic, this Court recognized that a fact is material when “there is a 

substantial likelihood that a reasonable shareholder would consider it 
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important” in making an investment decision. Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 

224, 231, 234 (1988), (quoting TSC Industries, Inc. v. Northway, 426 U.S. 438, 

449 (1976)). After a series of materially false statements by Red River, 

Respondents were misled into purchasing a large number of shares of Red 

River stock.  

Assuming, arguendo, that Red River’s statements and omissions of fact 

were materially misleading, Respondent’s adequately pled scienter through a 

showing of recklessness by Red River. While the Supreme Court has not 

definitively ruled on the use of recklessness to adequately plead scienter, some 

circuits discussed in Section I.C infra, do. Red River and Wilson’s statements 

rise to any of these circuits’ standards of recklessness because the statements 

made were an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care. Because 

of this extreme departure, the inference of intent necessary under the PSLRA is 

just as likely as any opposing inference.  

A. Red River’s statements are actionable because they were not 
complete and accurate, which a reasonable investor would find to 
significantly alter the total mix of information available. 

 
Respondents adequately pled a Section 10(b) claim. Section 10(b) bars 

the use of any manipulative or deceptive device in connection with the 

purchase or sale of a security. 15 U.S.C. § 78j. To successfully prove a violation 

of Rule 10b-5, a plaintiff must show “(1) a material misrepresentation or 

omission by the defendant; (2) scienter; (3) a connection between the 

misrepresentation or omission and the purchase or sale of a security; (4) 

reliance upon the misrepresentation or omission; (5) economic loss; and (6) loss 
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causation.” Dura Pharmaceuticals v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341-42 (2005). In 

their complaint, Respondents sufficiently alleged that, on multiple occasions, 

Red River recklessly made false statements about its environmental practices, 

which Respondents relied on when they purchased Red River stock. 

Red River’s failure to release reports and professional concerns about 

seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale constituted an omission of material fact 

because it was necessary to inform purchasers of potential risks as those risks 

became apparent. It is unlawful to omit a material fact necessary in order to 

make a statement, in the light of the circumstances under which it was made, 

not misleading. Rule 10b-5(b), 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. Additionally, Section 

10(b) bars conduct involving deception by way of nondisclosure intended to 

deceive. Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc., 134 S. Ct. 2398 (2014). 

Despite multiple warnings of seismic activity and possible repercussions, Red 

River chose not to disclose the information to keep a “positive public image” 

and protect its value. 

Purchasers of Red River stock, who made their purchases during the 

Class Period, did so without the entirety of relevant facts to make an educated 

purchase. An actionable misrepresentation must be “misleading as to material 

fact.” Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 131 S. Ct. 1309, 1317–18, (2011). 

For an omission to be material, “there must be a substantial likelihood that the 

disclosure of the omitted fact would have been viewed by the reasonable 

investor as having significantly altered the ‘total mix’ of information made 

available.” Basic Inc., 485 U.S. 224, at 231-32. In Basic, this Court held that 
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the “role of the materiality requirement” is “to filter out essentially useless 

information that a reasonable investor would not consider significant, even as 

part of a larger ‘mix’ of factors to consider in making an investment decision.” 

Id. at 234. The disclosure required by the securities laws is measured not by 

literal truth, but by the ability of the material to accurately inform rather than 

mislead prospective buyers. Dujardin v. Liberty Media Corp., 359 F. Supp. 2d 

337 (S.D. N.Y. 2005). Here, the information available to stock purchasers was 

limited to that which Red River determined was beneficial to the company, 

rather than to stock purchasers. 

This Court specifically addressed materiality in Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. 

Siracusano, 131 S.Ct. 1309 (2011). There, this Court considered whether a 

pharmaceutical company’s failure to disclose reports associated with one of its 

products was material, where the reports did not disclose a “significant number 

of adverse events.” Id. In a unanimous decision, the Supreme Court held that 

Matrixx’s argument—“that adverse reports regarding a pharmaceutical 

company’s products are not material absent a sufficient number of such 

reports to establish a statistically significant risk that the product is causing 

the events”—was flawed because statistical significance is not the only reliable 

indication of causation. Id. at 1311-12. In fact, this Court found that the 

plaintiffs had adequately pled materiality given the quality of the reports, the 

commencement of related product liability lawsuits, previous studies which 

lent credibility to the reports and the fact that the product in question allegedly 

accounted for 70% of the defendant’s sales. Id. Because these facts suggested 
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“a significant risk to the commercial viability of [the defendant’s] leading 

product,” it was “substantially likely that a reasonable investor would have 

viewed this information as having significantly altered the total mix of 

information” even if the information did not establish “statistically significant” 

evidence of a causal link. Id. at 1321. 

Similarly, here, Red River received multiple reports and professional 

opinions regarding Red River’s toxic wastewater storage system and seismic 

activity in the Eagle Ford Shale. Even if Red River finds little significance in 

several reports of “low-level” seismic activity and whether it was a direct cause 

of the catastrophic events that occurred at Eagle Ford Shale, the relevant 

inquiry falls on whether a reasonable investor would find it significant. 

Importantly, Eagle Ford Shale is the only site for Red River’s oil exploration 

operation and is, therefore, directly intertwined with Red River’s stock value. 

(emphasis added). As a result, any information regarding risks or potential 

environmental issues with Eagle Ford Shale is important for purchasers of Red 

River stock to make an educated investment decision. (emphasis added).  

While the absence of statistically significant evidence creating a causal 

link between an event and the subsequent plummeting of a stock price is not a 

valid defense to a Section 10(b) claim, this Court and various circuit courts 

have created two possible defenses to such a claim. A Section 10(b) claim may 

fail if a defendant can show that the materially false statements being alleged 

were a product of corporate mismanagement or inactionable puffery. Here, the 

Fourteenth Circuit held that Statement 1 and Statement 6, found in Appendix 
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A of the record, were inactionable puffery. See Appendix A. Respondents do 

not challenge the circuit court’s determination regarding Statements 1 and 6. 

However, Statements 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, and 8 were neither a product of corporate 

mismanagement nor inactionable puffery and, thus, adequately pled in 

Respondent’s Section 10(b) claim. See Appendix A. 

i. Statements 2-4 of Appendix A are not examples of corporate 
mismanagement because Red River voluntarily choose to speak on 
their environmental commitments and practices, but misled 
investors by not providing complete and accurate statements. 

 
Red River, through Wilson, its CEO, made deliberate misrepresentations 

regarding the company’s environmental commitment and practices because 

Wilson was privy to information which contradicted statements made on behalf 

of Red River. Federal securities laws cannot be invoked to regulate “internal 

corporate mismanagement” and Section 10(b) should not be expanded to cover 

corporate decisions. Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462 (1977). 

However, deliberate acts of misrepresentation are actionable under federal 

securities laws. Suez Equity Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 

87, 99 (2d Cir. 2001). Claims will not be dismissed for corporate 

mismanagement if they show defendant voluntarily spoke and violated their 

obligation not to mislead when speaking. In re Mobile Media Sec. Litig., 28 F. 

Supp. 2d 901, 927 (D.N.J. 1998).  

Here, Wilson was informed of potential environmental problems with Red 

River’s toxic wastewater storage system and fracking. Despite warnings of 

environmental consequences and low-level seismic activity in the area, Red 

River did not increase its toxic wastewater storage capacity or change its 
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blasting and fracking procedures. However, the statements that shortly 

followed these warnings stated that environmental compliance was Red River’s 

“highest priority.” Wilson instructed Thompson and Grimes to convey a more 

positive tone in Red River’s public statements and disclosure documents and 

wished to have more autonomy in the disclosure process to ensure only 

positive statements regarding Red River’s practices were disclosed to the 

public. Evident from the record, Red River’s statements were deliberate and 

misleading. Therefore, corporate mismanagement is not a valid defense to 

Respondent’s Section 10(b) claim. 

ii. Statements 2, 4, 5, 7, and 8 of Appendix A are not inactionable 
puffery because Red River consciously disregarded environmental 
risks, tied their environmental practices to future success, and 
made statements that were in contradiction to facts known.  

 
Statements 2, 4, 5, 7, and 8 found in Appendix A all exhibit specific 

statements regarding Red River’s priorities, commitments, practices, and risks, 

all made with no regard to relevant, contradictory facts. The quintessential 

examples of inactionable “puffery” are “general statements about reputation, 

integrity, and compliance with ethical norms,” particularly when such 

statements are “explicitly aspirational, with qualifiers such as ‘aims to,’ ‘wants 

to,’ and ‘should.’” City of Pontiac Policemen's & Firemen's Ret. Sys. v. UBS AG, 

752 F.3d 173, 183 (2d Cir. 2014). In addition, “[s]tatements of general 

corporate optimism ... do not give rise to securities violations” unless “worded 

as guarantees.” IBEW Local Union No. 58 Pension Tr. Fund & Annuity Fund v. 

Royal Bank of Scotland Grp., PLC, 783 F.3d 383, 392 (2d Cir. 2015). 
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 Here, Red River’s statements include guarantees and absolutes, without 

any qualification. For example, Wilson, on behalf of Red River, stated at an 

investor conference that “a major environmental event had a zero percent 

chance of occurring on [their] property.” (emphasis added). Furthermore, in an 

annual 10-K report, Red River stated plainly that “[f]racking involves no 

serious environmental issues.” (emphasis added). These statements are 

indicative of a pattern of guarantees made by Red River to assure investors of 

environmental compliance, despite knowledge of environmental concerns 

involving fracking and toxic wastewater management.  

Even if this Court finds that any or all the statements at issue are 

general enough to be considered puffery, the defense still fails because the 

statements were made in light of contradictory facts. General statements that a 

defendant knows are false are actionable. Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 315 

(2nd Cir. 2000). Whether general or specific, Red River made statements which 

it knew were false. For example, in an annual 10-K report, Red River stated it 

had no higher priority than preventing damage resulting from environmental 

concerns. Prior to this statement, Red River received warnings that its toxic 

wastewater storage system was close to reaching maximum capacity several 

times. However, Red River did nothing to prevent the storage system from 

actually reaching capacity, which they knew could lead to an escape of toxic 

wastewater. Despite Red River’s knowledge, and with no regard to warnings of 

possible environmental mishaps, it continued to only portray positive messages 

of environmental compliance and practices. 
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B. Even if this Court finds that Respondent did not prove the 
Petitioners’ statements were material, Respondent’s claim is 
sufficient to survive a Motion to Dismiss because they adequately 
pled as such. 

 
At the pleading stage, Respondents do not have the burden of proving all 

the elements of its claim. All that is required, is for Respondents to allege 

“sufficient factual matter… that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 

U.S. 678 (2009). Because the determination of whether a false or misleading 

statement is material requires courts to “engage in a fact-specific inquiry” that 

“depends on all relevant circumstances;” and because “materiality is a mixed 

question of law and fact,” a complaint “may not properly be dismissed ... on the 

ground that the alleged misstatements or omissions are not material unless 

they are so obviously unimportant to a reasonable investor that reasonable 

minds could not differ on the question of their importance.” ECA, Local 134 

IBEW Joint Pension Tr. of Chi. v. JP Morgan Chase Co., 553 F.3d 187, 197 (2d 

Cir. 2009) (quoting Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231–32, (1988)); see 

also TSC Indus., Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 450 (1976). While the 

record sufficiently indicates that Petitioners made material misrepresentations 

which Respondents relied on when purchasing Petitioners’ stock, at a 

minimum, there are enough facts for Respondents claim to survive Petitioners’ 

motion to dismiss and allow Respondents to produce corroborating evidence 

through discovery.  
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C. Respondents adequately established scienter by showing Red 
River was reckless when it departed from the standard of 
ordinary care and made statements it did not believe to be true.  

 
The actions taken by Petitioners, including statements of material 

misrepresentation during the Class Period, rise to a level of recklessness 

because they displayed a habitual pattern of disregard for previously 

established protocols for disclosure and environmental compliance. Under the 

PSLRA, a plaintiff must “state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong 

inference that the defendant acted with the required state of mind.” 15 

U.S.C.A. § 78u–4(b)(2)(A). A complaint adequately pleads scienter under the 

PSLRA “only if a reasonable person would deem the inference of scienter cogent 

and at least as compelling as any opposing inference one could draw from the 

facts alleged.” Tellabs v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 324 

(2007). This standard requires courts to take into account “plausible opposing 

inferences.” Id. at 323.  

A “strong inference” is an inference that is just as likely as any plausible, 

nonculpable explanation for the defendant’s conduct. Id. at 324. In making this 

determination, the court must review “all the allegations holistically.” Id., at 

326. The absence of a motive allegation, though relevant, is not 

dispositive. Id., at 325. The inference that Red River was deliberately and 

recklessly attempting to mislead investors about Red River’s environmental 

practices is just as compelling as the opposing inference that Red River simply 

was acting in good faith when omitting facts in public disclosures. 
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This Court should be guided its own precedent and defer to the circuit 

court’s application of recklessness as an adequate means to allege scienter. 

The definition of scienter, in this Court, is the mental state “embracing intent 

to deceive, manipulate, or defraud.” Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 

216, (1976). However, the Supreme Court has adopted the position, by way of 

indifference, taken by several circuits that scienter includes recklessness. In 

Matrixx, this Court chose not to answer the question of whether recklessness is 

a way to plead scienter, but rather assumed the circuit courts’ determination 

that recklessness establishes scienter. Matrixx, 585 F.3d at 1183. Almost all 

the circuits accept varying degrees of recklessness to establish scienter.1 

Here, Red River acted with reckless disregard when it omitted relevant 

environmental concerns from public statements and by disregarding such 

concerns without any reasonable evidence to prove the concerns were 

unfounded. The Ninth Circuit allows scienter to be established by alleging 

intentionally false or misleading statements or that the statements were made 

with deliberate recklessness. In re Silicon Graphics Inc. Sec. Litig., 183 F.3d 

                                                        
1 Maldonado v. Dominguez, 137 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 1998) (even if securities fraud plaintiffs wish to prove scienter by 
"recklessness," they still must allege, with sufficient particularity, that defendants had full knowledge of the dangers of 
their course of action and chose not to disclose those dangers to investors); Chill v. General Elec. Co., 101 F.3d 263, (2d 
Cir. 1996) (plaintiff can establish strong inference of fraudulent intent, as required to prove scienter in a securities 
fraud case, by either alleging facts to show that defendants had both motive and opportunity to commit fraud, or by 
alleging facts that constitute strong circumstantial evidence of conscious misbehavior or recklessness); Abrams v. 
Baker Hughes Inc., 292 F.3d 424 (5th Cir. 2002)(specific evidence of "severe recklessness" by corporate officers who 
ignored accounting problems is necessary to survive a motion to dismiss); Kushner v. Beverly Enterprises, Inc., 317 
F.3d 820 (8th Cir. 2003) (sheer size of health care facility operator's $170 million settlement of Medicare fraud claim 
was insufficient to meet PSLRA heightened pleading requirements in securities fraud case, absent showing that 
operator and its directors had knowledge of contradictory crucial information at the time that they made statements of 
compliance with Medicare regulations); In re Silicon	Graphics Inc. Securities Litigation, 183 F.3d 970, 978 (9th Cir. 
1999), as amended, (Aug. 4, 1999) (seminal case of the circuit, holding that the required standard for scienter is 
"deliberate recklessness" and that motive and opportunity are insufficient to establish scienter); Bryant v. Avado 
Brands, Inc., 187 F.3d 1271, 1281 (11th Cir. 1999)(complaint alleging with particularity that defendant acted with 
severely reckless state of mind suffices to state claim for civil liability under § 10(b)and Rule 10b-5). 
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970, 974 (9th Cir. 1999), aff’d, 563 U.S. 27 (2011) (holding that particular facts 

giving rise to a strong inference of deliberate recklessness–distinguished from 

mere recklessness—at a minimum—is required to satisfy the heightened 

pleading standard under the PSLRA). This is the highest threshold of deliberate 

recklessness and requires a “highly unreasonable omission” and “an extreme 

departure from the standards of ordinary care”, with these departures 

presenting “danger of misleading” investors that is so obvious the actor should 

have known about it. Matrixx, 585 F.3d at 1180 (quoting In re Silicon Graphics, 

183 F.3d at 974). Here, even if the highest standard for recklessness is applied, 

Red River’s omissions of relevant environmental and engineering concerns were 

highly unreasonable when considering the risky nature of the fracking 

operation and present a valid concern for misleading investors. 

In Tellabs, the plaintiff alleged that the defendant misrepresented the 

strength of their products and earnings to conceal the declining value of 

company stock. Tellabs, 551 U.S., at 323. For seven months, Tellabs, through 

insinuation, stated products were in strong demand and profits were high, 

when in reality the opposite was true. Id. In considering each plausible 

inference of intent, the inquiry was whether a reasonable person would 

consider the guilty inference “at least as strong as any opposing inference.” Id.  

Holding that motive is not key for an inference of scienter, this Court stated the 

allegations must be taken together holistically. Id. The Supreme Court 

determined that an inference does not need to be indisputable, and that the 
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“strong inference” standard did not force a plaintiff to plead more than she is 

required to prove at trial. Id. 

Red River, through Wilson, demonstrated a pattern of disregarding 

experts who were in the best position to address various issues, and made 

statements contradicting facts known only to the company. When approached 

with three warnings of seismic activity in the one profitable location the 

company had, Wilson instructed Red River to make positive statements that 

were in clear contradiction to the internal concerns that engineers, Thompson, 

and Grimes had. These positive statements were not made with evidence 

uncovered by investigations to dispel concerns, but, rather, made with no 

factual support.  

Fracking is an inherently risky operation and retains a reputation among 

the public for being environmentally dangerous. Additionally, Red River’s sole 

profitable operation, and therefore main catalyst for their stock valuation, is oil 

exploration in the Eagle Ford Shale. For Red River to omit information and 

concerns directly relating to fracking risks, engineering problems, and the 

Eagle Ford Shale, and instead make statements that depict corporate 

procedures that were insulated from all risks of environmental concerns, Red 

River was deliberately reckless and should have been cognizant to the danger 

of misleading investors. From these facts, a strong inference can be drawn of 

recklessness and therefore scienter.  
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II. THIS COURT SHOULD FIND THAT AN ALEEGATION OF CUPLABLE 
PARTICIPATION IS NOT REQUIRED TO ADEQUATELY PLEAD A 
CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY CLAIM BECAUSE 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) 
DOES NOT PRESCRIBE RESPONDENTS TO DO SO. 

Respondents pled that James Wilson was the CEO of Red River when he, 

on behalf of the company, made misleading misrepresentations to stock 

purchasers. Thus, Respondents adequately pled that Wilson was in control of 

Red River in its Section 20(a) claim. Specifically, Section 20(a) of the Securities 

Exchange Act provides: 

Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person 
liable under any provision of this title or of any rule or 
regulation thereunder shall also be liable jointly and severally with 
and to the same extent as such controlled person to any person to 
whom such controlled person is liable, unless the controlling 
person acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce 
that act or acts constituting the violation or cause of action. 

 
15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). (emphasis added). 

James Wilson’s position as CEO of Red River sufficiently establishes the 

“control” element required for joint and several liability because, as CEO, 

Wilson oversees and manages the other officers of the company. Black’s Law 

Dictionary defines control as “the direct or indirect power to govern the 

management and policies of a person or entity, whether through ownership of 

voting securities, by contract, or otherwise; the power or authority to manage, 

direct, or oversee.” See Black’s Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014), Control.  

As CEO of Red River, Wilson made the decision to take the company 

public. Wilson hired Pamela Thompson as the chief operating and 

environmental officer and Sandra Grimes as senior vice president and general 

counsel. While Thompson and Grimes held high-ranking positions, Wilson 
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maintained control and supervision over both areas. Specifically, Wilson often 

gave Thompson and Grimes specific instructions that were followed. These 

instructions included the non-disclosure of reports and professional warnings 

of environmental concerns with Red River’s practices. Based on the plain 

language of Section 20(a), Respondents only needed to allege that Wilson, as 

CEO, had direct or indirect control over Red River, who Respondents claim 

violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Act. In doing so, the pleading 

requirements for a Section 20(a) claim were met because Respondent’s alleged 

more than just Wilson’s mere status as CEO of Red River. 

Almost identical to Black’s, 17 C.F.R. § 240. 12b-2 defines control as the 

“possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of 

the management and policies of a person.” 17 C.F.R. § 240. 12b-2. Numerous 

courts have adopted this SEC definition of control when analyzing control 

person liability. See, e.g., Sheinkopf v. Stone, 927 F.2d 1259, 1270 (1st Cir. 

1991); S.E.C. v. First Jersey Securities, Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1472–1473 (2d Cir. 

1996) (quoting 17 C.F.R. § 240.12b-2); Pharo v. Smith, 621 F.2d 656, 670 (5th 

Cir. 1980); Paracor Finance, Inc. v. General Elec. Capital Corp., 96 F.3d 1151, 

1163 (9th Cir. 1996); Maher v. Durango Metals, Inc., 144 F.3d 1302 (10th Cir. 

1998) (citing the SEC's definition of control); Myzel v. Fields, 386 F.2d 718 (8th 

Cir. 1967); Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, 527 F.2d 880 (3d Cir. 1975). 

Section 20(a) is a derivative liability statute because it, in effect, requires 

through an affirmative defense a defendant to disprove certain wrongful 

conduct on its part. See Musick, Peeler & Garrett v. Employers Ins. of Wausau, 



Team R2 

 27 

508 U.S. 286, 296 (1993) (§ 20… imposes derivative liability.”). The only 

defense prescribed by Section 20(a) to disprove the alleged liability is through a 

showing of good faith in the actions being alleged. 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).  

While the Fifth, Ninth, Tenth, and Eleventh circuits require a plaintiff to 

only allege that a defendant had direct or indirect control over an individual 

who violated the Act, other circuits, including the Second, Third, and Eighth, 

require more. In the Second Circuit, for example, to establish a prima facie 

case of control-person liability, a plaintiff must allege: (1) a primary violation by 

the controlled person, (2) control of the primary violator by the defendant, and 

(3) that the defendant was, in some meaningful sense, a culpable 

participant in the controlled person's fraud. S.E.C. v. First Jersey 

Securities, Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1472 (2d Cir. 1996). (emphasis added). This 

third prong, added by the Second Circuit, was later adopted by the Third and 

Eighth Circuits. See S.E.C. v. J.W. Barclay & Co., Inc., 442 F.3d 834, 841 (3d 

Cir. 2006); see also Metge v. Baehler, 762 F.2d 621, 631 (8th Cir. 1985). 

“Culpable participation refers to either knowing and substantial participation 

in the wrongdoing or inaction with the intent to further the fraud or prevent its 

discovery.” Rochez Bros., 527 F.2d at 890. The “culpable participation” prong 

has essentially required plaintiffs to establish scienter when alleging a 

secondary, control-person liability claim under Section 20(a).  

Courts within the Second Circuit have stated that control person 

provisions “were meant to expand the scope of liability under the securities 

laws.” In re Tronox, Inc. Securities Litigation, 769 F. Supp. 2d 202, 208 (S.D. 
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N.Y. 2011). However, in adopting a pleading requirement which mirrors the 

requirements to state a primary violation of the Securities Act, the circuits that 

use the “culpable participation” test have, in fact, restricted and limited liability 

to only those actual participants of the violating acts. Opposing circuits are not 

the only courts that do not follow this stricter pleading requirement. To this 

point, some courts within the Second and Third Circuits do not require that 

plaintiffs allege the defendants' culpable participation at the pleading stage. In 

re Parmalat Securities Litigation, 375 F. Supp. 2d 278, 307–309 (S.D. N.Y. 

2005) (observing that the Second Circuit does not require the plaintiffs to plead 

culpable participation in order to state a legally sufficient Section 20(a) claim); 

In re Cambrex Corp. Securities Litigation, 2005 WL 2840336, *16 (D.N.J. 2005). 

To plead culpable participation in a primary act is to plead the primary act 

itself, making Section 20(a) superfluous.  

A. Plaintiffs of a Section 20(a) claim should not be required to plead 
“culpable participation” because Congress did not intend 
Plaintiffs to show a primary violation of the Securities Act and 
intent on behalf of a defendant.  

 
To require Respondents to allege “culpable participation” by Wilson in 

the violating acts of Red River would depart from congressional intent. Section 

20(a) was intended “to prevent evasion” of the law “by organizing dummies who 

will undertake the actual things forbidden.” Hollinger v. Titan Capital Corp., 914 

F.2d 1564, 1577 (9th Cir. 1990) (citing and quoting Stock Exchange Practices: 

Hearings on S. Res. 84 (72d Cong.) and S. Res. 56 and S. Res. 97 (73d Cong.) 

Before the Senate Comm. on Banking and Currency, 73d Cong., 1st Sess. 6571 

(1934). In Hollinger, the Ninth Circuit reviewed records from the 72nd and 73rd 
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Congress of 1934 to determine congress’s intent when enacting Section 20(a). 

Id. There, the court held that by imposing liability on persons who “were able, 

directly or indirectly, to exert influence on the policy and decision-making 

process of others,” Congress intended to hold accountable “the [person] who 

stands behind the scenes and controls the [securities violator] who is in a 

nominal position of authority.” Id. Absent from the congressional hearing notes 

were mentions of control, knowledge, or participation over the violating acts 

themselves. Instead, the notes discussed control over the person who 

committed the primary act. 

Eighteen years later, in Laperriere v. Vesta Ins. Group, Inc., the Eleventh 

Circuit summarized the purpose of Section 20(a) when it also analyzed the 

congressional hearings that took place before the passage of the 1934 Act. 

Laperriere v. Vesta Ins. Group, Inc., 526 F.3d 715 (11th Cir. 2008). There, the 

court determined that the legislative purpose behind control person liability 

provision was to prevent people and entities from using “agents acting on their 

behalf” to accomplish ends that would violate securities laws. Id. Additionally, 

the House of Representatives Report accompanying the 1934 Act summarized 

Section 20(a) and clarified that Congress intended to achieve its purpose by 

making “a person who controls… liable to the same extent as the person 

controlled unless the controlling person acted in good faith.” H.R. Rep. No. 73-

1383 at 26 (1934). (emphasis added). 

Based on a review of Congress’ intent when passing the 1934 Act, it is 

evident that secondary, control-person liability was implemented to place 
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liability on those who control, manage, or dictate the actions of others. 

Specifically, those of an individual who is being alleged to who have violated a 

provision of the Securities Act, without regard to the control persons actual 

participation in the violating acts. As here, where the Respondents pled that 

Petitioner controlled, managed, and directed the actions of Red River and those 

that were responsible for disclosing material misrepresentations to stock 

purchasers, this Court should find that no further allegations of intent or 

primary culpability are necessary to adequately plead a Section 20(a) claim. To 

do so would contradict congressional intent because it would place 

unwarranted restrictions on the pleading standard for Section 20(a) claims. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that this 

Court uphold the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth Circuit’s 

finding that Respondents adequately alleged material misleading statements 

and properly pled scienter. Additionally, Respondents respectfully request that 

this Court uphold the Fourteenth Circuit’s finding that Section 20(a) does not 

require plaintiffs to allege culpable participation. 

Respectfully Submitted,  
/s/ Team # R2 
Counsel for the Respondents 


